IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

0C

JAMES DOY CHRISTIAN,

Appellant,

V.

CASE NO. **71,636**

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF AND FOR BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL E. ALLEN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS #241543 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

TABLE OF CITATIONS (CONT)

<u>STATUTES</u>								
Section	90.401	Florida	Statutes	(1987)	7,13			
Section	782.03	Florida	Statutes	(1987)	27			
Section	921.141	.(6)(b)			34			
Section 921.141(6)(c)								
MISCELLANEOUS								
Report o	f Advis	ory Comm	nission, p	page 6.	30			

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES DOY CHRISTIAN,

Appellant,

vs ■ CASE NO. 71,636

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a capital case. It is unusual in two respects. The murder occurred at Florida State Prison, and a Bradford County jury recommended Christian live. The record on appeal consists of ten volumes, and references to them will be indicated by the letter "R,"

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed in the circuit court for Bradford Count on May 28, 1987 charged Doy Christian with the first degree murder of Alfred Moore (R 1-2). Counsel filed several pre-trial motions, but none of them are relevant to this appeal.

Christian proceeded to trial before the honorable Osee Fagan and was found guilty as charged (R 266). The penalty phase of the trial followed, and he and the state presented evidence in mitigation or aggravation of a sentence of death. The jury, after hearing this evidence, counsels' arguments, and the court's instructions on the law, returned a life recommendation (R 315).

The court overrode that recommendation and sentenced Christian to death (R 340-359). Justifying this sentence, the court found in aggravation:

- 1. Christian committed the murder while under sentence of imprisonment.
- 2. Christian had previously been convicted of felonies involving violence or the threat of violence
- 3. The murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.
- 4. The murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

The court rejected all the mitigating circumstances argued by Christian, and it found nothing to mitigate the sentence of death it imposed (R 353-355).

This timely appeal follows.

III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Albert Moore was a jitterbug: not all his screws were properly tightened (R 1531). He was also a new inmate at Florida State prison, and he needed to establish his reputation among the inmates there. If his past was any indication how he would do it, it would be through violence.

Housed at a prison noted for its violent inmates, Moore stood out as being one of its most violent. Convicted of battery upon a law enforcement officer (R 1555) (he had a lengthy juvenile and adult record including violent offenses (R 1555))¹, he came to the prison from the Palm Beach County jail where he had accumulated 123 incident reports for assaults, fights, and other violent activities (R 1556). He had set 10 fires (R 1556), assaulted and injured 19 deputy sheriffs (R 1556), attempted suicide, tried to escape twice and done so once (R 1556). The jail had never had a more violent inmate (R 1556). When he arrived at Florida State Prison, the prison administration immediately placed him in close confinement (R 1557). The administration released him into the prison's general population during the last week of February 1987 (R 1557).

Doy Christian also had a violent past, but his violence had occurred years earlier, and once in prison, Christian had

¹His record during his prior incarcerations included 35 disciplinary reports, including at least four disciplinary reports for armed assaults (R 1555).

adjusted well to prison life (R 1442-1443, 1447). Guards and inmates respected him (R 1082, 1084, 1090, 1152): he was good natured, easy to get along with, and a problem for no one.

Inmates and staff knew him as a "jolly green giant" (R 1082).

Moore met Christian and on April 12, 1987 the two men played cards. Christian trounced Moore (R 1194), and in a final effort to regain some of what he had lost, Moore offered to bet his two bars of soap (R 1194). Christian agreed, but the game had not progressed far when Christian caught Moore cheating (R 1195). According to the inmate code, anyone caught cheating automatically lost if caught (R 1195), and Christian won Moore's soap. Moore said he had not cheated (R 1196), but he did nothing when Christian took his bars of soap.

Afterwards, he said he "was tired of pussy niggers," and "he was going to end up hurting one of these pussy niggers."

Christian liked to play cards, and later that day, he participated in a card tournament held in the gymnasium (R 1197). As he played, Moore came into the gym, spotted Christian, and snuck up behind him (R 1033). He carried a forty pound "curling" bar (R 1033), and lifting the bar with both hands (R 1033) he smashed Christian in the head with it. Christian fell to the floor, unconscious and bleeding (R 1034), Moore drew back to hit him again (R 1034). He would have killed Christian (R 1095), but another inmate grabbed Moore as he was about to hit him again (R 1095). Moore told the inmate to "Get off me. Let me kill him." (R 1095). The other inmate

would not, telling Moore that "... he's already down and bleeding." (R 1095) Moore left Christian, saying that he should have killed him (R 1095). Eventually, he was arrested and placed in a cell on M wing of the prison. (R 776)

Christian had a deep head wound, and it required nine or ten stitches to close (R 1119). He was kept under observation for a couple of days (R 1115, 1119) then placed on M wing (R 1018).

Bars prevented Moore from attacking Christian again, but they could not stop his oral assaults upon Christian. Daily, for three weeks, Moore threatened to kill Christian. After he found out where Christian's parents lived (R 1156), Moore threatened to kill them (R 1147, 1156, 1165). He said Christian was a "pussy boy" who was not going to do anything to him (R 1165). Christian was a faggot, a homosexual, and his "boy" now (R 1134, 1204).

Three weeks passed while the prison investigated Moore's assault upon Christian. All the while, Moore kept up his barrage of insults and threats (R 1158). On May 1 Christian asked to be released into the population on M wing, and he was released. He had also asked to be moved to another wing, but that was denied. (R 1204)

On May 2 Moore apparently faked an illness so he could go to the prison clinic (R 1182). On the way there, he continued his threats towards Christian.

Moore soon returned to his cell on the third tier of M wing, escorted by two guards who had handcuffed his hands behind his back (R 780-781).

Although disputed by state witnesses (R 796), Christian said he and another inmate had been drinking "buck", an inmate concocted wine, that morning (R1206-1207). He was not drunk, having only drunk a quart of the brew (R 1167, 1206-1207).

When he saw Moore being led back to his cell, he "blacked out" (R 1209-1210), grabbed his knife (which an inmate had brought to him some time earlier (R 1205)) and ran up to the third floor of M wing.

Christian rushed up to Moore, pushing aside the two guards. Moore saw Christian and started to run. As he rounded a corner, he slipped and fell. Christian caught him and started to stab him (R 791-792). Christian stabbed Moore 26 times all over his body, hitting the lungs, stomach, arteries, and eyes (R 881-882). The guards tried to stop him, but they had only a hand held radio which was knocked out of one of the guard's hands (R 794). While they were going for help, Christian pushed Moore's body off the third floor. It hit the first floor and the skull was crushed (R 847, 886).

When help came, Christian surrendered his knife (R 854). He came to after the guards had placed him in a cell (R 1210).

IV SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Christian has only three issues to raise in this capital case: one guilt issue and two penalty phase issues. These three issues have a common theme: Christian's intent when he killed Alfred Moore.

A. The guilt phase issue.

In the guilt phase issue, Christian argues the trial court erred when it refused to let Christian present the testimony of five or six inmates who knew Christian. These inmates would have told the jury that after Moore had attacked Christian, Christian acted differently. He complained of headaches and dizziness. Most significantly, he blacked out, and he forgot what he had said only minutes earlier.

The court refused to let the jury hear this testimony because Christian's witnesses were not experts. He specifically rejected Christian's claim that lay witnesses could testify about Christian's mental condition at a time proximate to the killing. This court has rejected that rationale.

Section 90.401 Fla. Stats. (1987) defines relevant evidence as that evidence tending to prove or disprove a material fact. In order to convict Christian of first degree premeditated murder, the state had to present evidence tending to prove Christian had the requisite intent to kill Moore. Fairness, logic, and opinions of this court allow the flipside of this. The defense can present evidence tending to disprove what the state is required to prove.

The court implicitly acknowledged as much, but simply refused to let Christian present non-experts to testify about his mental condition. Applying that rationale raises serious constitutional problems with Christian's sixth amendment right to present a defense. It also conflicts with what this court has said. In opinions cited in the argument on this issue, this court has said a defendant can present lay witnesses who will testify about a defendant's mental condition as long as they base their opinions upon their personal knowledge.

The witnesses in this case had the requisite personal knowledge, and the court should have let them testify about Christian's mental condition.

B. The penalty phase issues.

This case is unusual in two respects. First, it is a prison murder, and second, a Bradford county jury recommended a life sentence for Christian.

The recommendation is not surprising when viewed in light of the conditions Christian faced when he killed Moore.

Alfred Moore's attempt to kill Christian and his unrelenting taunts, threats, and sexual harassment drove Christian to commit this murder. These physical and oral assaults were particularly aggravating in prison, where inmates were expected to "hang tough' and solve their own problems. Christian could not ask the prison administration for help, and it only aggravated the situation by housing Moore and Christian on the same wing. This allowed Moore to see and threaten

Christian constantly. The prison enviornment, with its inmate code of conduct, its permeating fear of violence and death, and its inability to provide Christian any protection from Moore was a good reason for the jury to have recommended life for Christian. They had other reasons.

The jury could have recommended life because Christian had not had a very violent background. He, of course, had committed an armed robbery, an aggravated battery, and an aggravated assault, but those crimes had occurred years ago, and once in prison, Christian had generally led a quiet, peaceful life. The inmates and guards respected him, and he had a good reputation for being a "happy-go-lucky" person.

Alfred Moore was not. He came to Florida State Prison with an incredible record of violence. Once he got to prison, he continued his violent ways by attacking Christian because he had caught him cheating at cards. He continued his assault, at least verbally, with threats to kill him or his family. When compared with other prison murder cases this court has decided, this case is the only one where the defendant had at least adequate provocation to support a life recommendation. It also is one of the very few cases in which the victim "participated" or "consented" to his own death.

It is also one of the few cases where the defendant had at least a pretense of moral or legal justification for killing Moore. The trial court said Christian killed Moore in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any moral or legal justification. From the totality of the situation, however,

Christian had some justification for killing Moore. Based upon Moore's attempt to kill him and his promise to do so in the future, Christian at least had a pretense of killing Moore in self defense.

Christian also claims he did not commit this murder in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner. When the evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to sustaining the jury's life recommendation, it reveals that Christian blacked out, and in a spontaneous, unchecked explosion of rage killed Moore. He did not plan to kill Moore.

V ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE COURT VIOLATED CHRISTIAN'S SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO A FAIR TRIAL WHEN IT EXCLUDED THE LAY TESTIMONY CHRISTIAN WANTED TO PRESENT REGARDING HIS MENTAL CONDITION BEFORE HE KILLED ALFRED MOORE.

During the presentation of his case, Christian sought to introduce the testimony of five or six inmates who would have testified about Christian's changed mental condition after Moore had hit him on the head. After Moore had smashed his head, he had entirely changed (R 1054-1058). Instead of being a "happy-go-lucky" and friendly person (R 1054), "...he was withdrawn, not himself, forgetful, that he complained of headaches, dizziness..." (R 1055-1058). One lay witness saw Christian a day or two before the killing, and he thought it odd that Christian had forgotten things he had said he had wanted only minutes earlier (R 1055). 3

²For purposes of a proffer, the court allowed Christian to summarize the testimony of the several witnesses he anticipated calling regarding Christian's mental condition after Moore had hit him in the head (R 1054).

³At least one of Christian's lay witnesses had known Christian for several years (R 1056), and all had known him before Moore's attack.

The court refused to let Christian present this lay testimony, saying:

•••if you seek to have this witness testify about the mental state of the Defendant or any effect on him as a result of that injury, he is not qualified to give that kind of evidence.

(R 1045)

MR. WEISS(Defense counsel): It's my understanding that the law of Florida permits lay people to give their testimony on the issue of sanity or insanity. I believe that the Florida Supreme Court has ruled in that fashion...If a lay person is permitted to give his opinion as to sanity or insanity, then, perhaps, through analogy, a lay person would be able to give an opinion as to mental state.

THE COURT: Well, I'm going to rule that this witness cannot do that in this case.

(R 1049). The court erred when it denied Christian's request to present lay testimony about Christian's mental condition immediately before he killed Moore.

A. The relevancy of testimony regarding Christian's mental condition.

The first problem presented is whether Christian could present testimony tending to disprove the state's claim he had the premeditated intent to commit a first degree murder. This court answered that question in <u>Gurganus v. State</u>, 451 So.2d 817,822-823 (Fla. 1984). In that case, Gurganus wanted the two psychologists who had examined him to testify about the effects large amounts of drugs and alcohol would have had upon a person like Gurganus. The trial court refused to let Gurganus' witnesses testify because their testimony was irrelevant.

Rejecting the trial court's reasoning, this court said:

When specific intent is an element of the crime charged, evidence of voluntary intoxication, or for that matter evidence of any condition relating to the accused's ability to form a specific intent, is relevant.

Id. at 822-823. (emphasis added, cites omitted.)

Because the state had charged Christian with committing a first degree murder, it had to prove he had a premeditated intent to kill Moore before the jury could find him guilty of first degree murder. Id. at 822. If the court admitted evidence tending to prove Christian's premeditation, then the court should have also admitted evidence tending to disprove that intent. 590.401 Fla. Stats. (1987). Testimony of several witnesses that Christian had changed after Moore's attack was admissible because it tended to establish his "...mental capacity at the time of the offense, particularly to the element of premeditation.'' Id. at 823.

The rationale of <u>Gurganus</u> becomes more compelling here in light of the factual similarities of Gurganus to this case.

Both [psychologists] testified that, in their opinion, Gurganus was unable to recall the events immediately surrounding the shootings ...One of the psychologists took this observation further and testified that such genuine amnesia is directly connected to the rationality or the pre-planning of the acts which are unable to be recalled later and that an individual who does act in a rational, pre-planned manner is unable to genuinely block the events from memory after the event. Regardless of

⁴Christian filed a motion to elect asking the court to order to state to choose between prosecuting its case under of premeditation or felony-murder theory (R 82-83). The court did not rule on the motion because the state attorney said it would prove only premeditation (R 192).

the weight or truth of this testimony, we find the testimony to be relevant to the issue of Gurganus' mental capacity at the time of the offense, particularly to the element of premeditation. We hold that it was also error for the trial court to exclude the portion of the testimony.

<u>Id</u>. at 823.

Christian said he "blacked-out" immediately before his attack upon Moore and did not regain consciousness until he had been arrested and placed in a cell (R 1210). The testimony of the other inmates would have corroborated his testimony, and it would have bolstered his argument that he lacked the specific intent to kill Moore (R 1346-1349). Testimony of his lack of intent was relevant.

B. Lay witnesses can give an opinion about Christian's mental condition at the time he killed Moore.

The trial court implicitly acknowledged as much, but it refused to let Christian present testimony supporting a defense of a lack of specific intent because the witnesses he sought to use were not experts (R 1048-1049).

This court's recent decision in <u>Garron v. State</u>, Case no. 67,986 (Fla. May 19, 1988) controls, and it rejects that rationale. In <u>Garron</u>, the state had five lay witnesses testify about Garron's sanity. Of those five, only Garron's daughter was competent to render an opinion regarding his mental condition.

Of the other four lay witnesses who opined as to appellant's sanity, only the deputy who arrested appellant could even arguably have been capable of rendering such an opinion. The others simply did not know appellant well enough, had not observed him

enough, and did not observe him close enough in time to the shooting to give competent, lay testimony as to his sanity at the time of the act.

<u>Id</u>.

In this case, the court did not reject Christian's witnesses because they had not met the criteria suggested by Garron. Instead, Christian's witnesses could not testify because they were not experts (R 1045). This court in Garron also rejected that position:

As this Court stated in Rivers v. State, 458 So.2d 762 (Fla. 1984), '[i]t is a well established principle of law in this state that an otherwise qualified witness who is not a medical expert can testify about a person's mental condition, provided the testimony is based on personal knowledge or observation.'

Id.

Competent testimony about the defendant's mental condition comes from a lay witness when he has gained this personal knowledge in a period reasonably proximate to the events giving rise to the prosecution. Id. Although, a non-expert cannot give an opinion based upon observations made more than a day before or after the crime, he may testify if he has known the defendant over an extend period of time. Id. See Footnote 3. That is, if the lay witness did not know the defendant yet observed his behavior more than a day before or after the crime, he cannot tell the jury what he saw. Long time acquaintances of the defendant are not so limited.

The court excluded Christian's lay witnesses because they were not experts. Thus, his proffer did not directly show how they had the requisite personal knowledge of Christian's mental

condition. Christian never established the basis for their knowledge because the court ruled, in essence, that even if they had the proper basis, their testimony was irrelevant. Despite this ruling, Christian's proffer suggested these witnesses knew Christian well enough to offer an opinion of his mental state on the day of the killing.

At least one of Christian's lay witnesses had known Christian for several years (R 1056), and they had all known him before Moore's attack. Afterwards, they noticed a dramatic change in him (R 1054-1058). Instead of being a "happy-go-lucky" and friendly person (R 1054), he was "entirely changed." He was "withdrawn, not himself and forgetful; that he complained of headaches, dizziness..."(R 1055). Others saw him a day or two before the killing and thought it odd he had forgotten what he had said only minutes earlier (R 1055).

Again, had the court recognized that lay witnesses could testify about Christian's mental condition if he had laid a proper predicate, Christian may have been able to specifically answer the requirements mentioned in <u>Garron</u>. But the court did not let Christian get to that point. As far as it was concerned, "This witness and the others that you say you're bringing in in similar fashion are not competent to testify as to the mental state of this Defendant," (R 1053) That was error.

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