IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES DOY CHRISTIAN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER #239161 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In his first argument, Appellant alleges that lay opinion testimony was wrongly excluded. The court's ruling clearly satisfied the statute. In any event, Christian's own experts rejected the theory that Christian was trying to "back door" in through his lay witnesses. Of course, Appellant failed to ever lay a predicate for the opinion testimony thus negating the issue.

Appellant's challenge to his death sentence is a simple request for this Court to ignore **Tedder** and uphold the "mitigating theory" that prisoners should be allowed to solve their own problems by killing each other. That theory is too extreme for civilized society.

The murder was cold, calculated and premeditated. The idea that any "pretense", however absurd or radical, defeats this aggravating factor is, again, unworthy of support.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN LIMITING APPELLANT'S PRESENTATION OF LAY WITNESS TESTIMONY.

Mr. Christian contends that he was prohibited from presenting the testimony of "five or six inmates" who would have testified about his "changed mental condition" after being struck in the head by Moore. The State submits that Christian was not restricted at all, but rather misunderstood the law, the trial judge, or both. We further suggest that given the totality of the case the "error", if any, was harmless beyond any reasonable doubt.

The presentation of lay testimony regarding mental condition is governed by Section 90.701, Florida Statutes. The rule states:

If a witness is not testifying as an expert, his testimony about what he perceived may be in the form of inference and opinion when:

- (1) The witness cannot readily, and with equal accuracy and adequacy, communicate what he has perceived to the trier of fact without testifying in terms of inferences or opinions and his use of inferences or opinions will not mislead the trier of fact to the prejudice of the objecting party, and
- (2) The opinions and inferences do not require a special knowledge, skill, experience or training.

Judge Fagan specifically told defense counsel that his witnesses could testify to their observations of Christian before and after the incident with Moore. Thus, Judge Fagan permitted testimony regarding "headaches" or "being withdrawn", "dizziness" or any other observable change in Christian's condition. (R 1044). The judge would not permit "cause and effect" opinion testimony.

The Appellant's attorney did, in fact, put before the jury testimony from Mr. Stacey regarding Christian's demeanor prior to the attack (R 1064-66) and comparative observations from witness Taylor. (R 1071-77).

Judge Fagan's ruling clearly comported with Section 90.701. The witnesses were free to describe Christian, relate his moods or demeanor, discuss his reputation and report on his physical condition, all as provided by subsection (1) of the statute.

The witnesses were not permitted to give opinions regarding the causal effect of the blow to Christian's head. This, again, was a correct interpretation of subsection (2) of the rule. These inmates were not qualified by education, training or experience to render a professional opinion. If they were qualified, no predicate was ever laid. (The State's objections went to Christian's failure to lay a predicate).

Subsection (1) also precludes the rendition of lay opinion testimony that would mislead the trier of fact. The

giving of "cause and effect" testimony by lay inmates would indeed have misled the jury since the testimony would have squarely contradicted the expert testimony of Dr. Aviles.

Dr. Aviles was unequivocal in stating that while a subdural hematoma could cause a minor personality change, Christian did not suffer from a subdural hematoma. Had he suffered one, he would have died prior to May 2, the date of the murder. (R 1121-1126). Given the conflict between the expert, Dr. Aviles, and the lay witnesses, it is clear that this testimony would have been improper under subsection (1).

None of the Appellant's cited cases overcome this ruling by the trial court.

Christian presented absolutely no evidence that he lacked "premeditation". Christian admitted himself that he fully intended to attack (and stab) Moore (he only denied an intent to "kill", which is irrelevant since the germane intent is an intent to attack the victim). (R 1220). Christian spotted Moore, fetched his knife, stalked Moore and "blew up" later. (R 1215-1225). Dr. Krop, Christian's own expert, said that this crime was not committed while Christian suffered "psychosis" (R 1548), that Christian fully appreciated what he was doing (R 1550) and that Christian did not "black out" but rather was "repressing bad memories" after the fact. (R 1538).

Since Christian proved his own premeditation, Gurganus v. State, 451 So.2d 817 (Fla. 1984), is not a factor.

Garron v. State, 13 F.L.W. 325, 326 (Fla. 1988), did not abolish Section 90.701, Florida Statutes or even limit it.

Quoting Rivers v. State, 458 So.2d 762 (Fla. 1984), the Garron court held that lay witnesses could testify as to their opinion of the defendant's sanity based upon their observations of the defendant at the time of the shooting. This Court also held that mere prior contact with the defendant would not permit rendition of a lay opinion, nor would contact "a day removed from the events giving rise to the prosecution". Garron does not address situations where (as here) defense experts and the defendant himself testify that the defendant was sane, competent and acting with premeditation.

We must bear in mind that Christian **did not raise** an insanity defense. At most, he merely alleged emotional distress and lessened intent.

In **Kight v. State**, 512 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1987), the trial court excluded **expert** testimony by none other than Dr. Krop designed to show Kight's "inability to plan the crime". Since the defense of insanity was not raised, Krop's testimony as an expert was excluded along with lay testimony regarding Kight's mental capacity.

We submit that Christian has even less of a case than Kight had. Christian, like Kight, did not plead insanity. Kight offered evidence of actual mental problems, Christian did not. Kight's expert (Dr. Krop) arguably supported his lay witness (Det. Weeks), Krop did not support the inmates at bar, nor did Dr. Aviles. (Aviles, in fact, rejected the "blow to the head" theory).

Finally, we suggest that if Moore struck Christian with a pipe, Mr. Christian was fully capable of disliking Moore and planning revenge upon him without the help of any physical problem.

Thus, Christian's appeal fails for an infinite variety of reasons. First, he never pled insanity. Second, his own testimony conceded premeditation. Third, Dr. Aviles and Dr. Krop expertly refuted the "blow to the head" theory. Fourth, the "opinion" evidence was excluded for lack of a predicate. See Beck v. Gross, 499 So.2d 886 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986), as well as Section 90.701, Florida Statutes. Fifth, the court never forbade Christian from having his witnesses testify to their observations of him "before and after" the attack by Moore. (Even if the convicts had rendered an opinion, defense experts Aviles and Krop would have refuted it). Finally, under Garron and Rivers, Christian failed to offer evidence sufficiently close in time to the attack itself. His questions were general in scope and in point of reference.

In the absence of error by the court or a factual basis for any claim of error or any resulting prejudice, Christian cannot prevail.

ARGUMENT

II.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SENTENCING THE APPELLANT TO DEATH.

The Appellant contends that the trial judge erred in overriding the jury's recommendation of a life sentence. The Appellant suggests that under the standard announced in **Tedder** v. **State**, **322** So.2d **908**, 910 (Fla. 1975), the trial court had no reasonable basis for overriding the jury.

The details of this case bear review. According to Christian, he planned his attack upon Moore and fully intended to hurt him. According to Dr. Aviles, Christian was not impaired due to the head injury. According to Dr. Krop, Christian was sane, competent and appreciated the criminal nature of his conduct. According to the witnesses, Christian stabbed Moore systematically, calmly and methodically. Christian carefully aimed his thrusts, cut precise circular patterns in his victim, stabbed his victim's eyes, and spat in the victim's face.

The sentencer found four statutory aggravating factors, which we justify as follows:

- (1) Christian was under sentence of imprisonment. This is undisputed.
- (2) Christian had prior convictions for violent crimes. This is undisputed.

(3) The murder was heinous, atrocious and cruel.

This case clearly falls within Dixon v. State, 283 So.2d 1, 9 (Fla. 1973):

It is our interpretation that heinous means extremely wicked or shockingly evil; that atrocious means outrageously wicked and vile and that cruel means designed to inflict a high degree of pain with utter indifference to, or even enjoyment of, the suffering of others.

The methodical stabbing of Moore's body while Moore, handcuffed, begged for his life satisfies Dixon. Christian did not flail wildly at Moore. Christian brought down his victim, cut a circular pattern in his chest, lifted him, spat in his face, gouged out (or tried to) his eyes, returned to cut a second circle on Moore's chest and then dropped him over the ledge. This reflects contempt for the victim, enjoyment of his suffering and a heinous, atrocious and cruel attack.

Although not a prison killing, the knife attack at bar compares nonetheless to Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447 (1984). "Crazy Joe" Spaziano systematically stabbed his victim to death and left her body at a dump. The jury recommended life, but a death sentence was imposed and the override was upheld. Of course, "inmate stabbings" have also resulted in valid death sentences. See Williams v. State, 438 So.2d 781 (Fla. 1983); Williamson v. State, 511 So.2d 289 (Fla. 1987); Agan v. State, 445 So.2d 326 (Fla. 1984); and Demps v. State, 395 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1981).

In Lusk v State, 446 So.2d 1038 (Fla. 1984), the defendant received an "override" death sentence which this Court upheld. Lusk killed Michael Hall, a fellow inmate, by stabbing him to death during the prison's Thanksgiving dinner. Lusk alleged that Hall had robbed and threatened him earlier that day. When Lusk killed Hall, it was accompanied by a "public warning" not to mess with Lusk.

Our crime compares with Lusk's. Like Lusk, Christian had a prior, unsuccessful, physical altercation with the victim.

Like Lusk, Christian procured an illegal knife. Like Lusk,

Christian rushed his victim and stabbed him to death.

Christian, however, went further than Lusk, for these reasons:

- (1) Christian had three weeks to cool off, Lusk did not.
- (2) Christian was merely taunted, Lusk was under an actual threat of future violence.
- (3) Christian's case was known to prison authorities and the victim, Moore, was locked up where he could not hurt Christian. Lusk's problem was unreported and his assailant was loose.
- (4) Lusk stabbed his victim only enough to kill him. Christian took time to mutilate and torture his victim.

When Lusk came before this Court on collateral attack (alleging ineffective assistance of counsel), see Lusk v. State, 498 So.2d 902 (Fla 1986), this Court noted that Bradford County jurors, at least according to counsel, were tolerant of "inmate"

on inmate" crime (no guards injured) and indeed were "defense biased". The court also held that Lusk could not raise a defense of "dominating passion" because he had time to cool off.

We submit that Christian had more time and better reason to cool off than Lusk did. We further submit that Christian benefited improperly from the "defense bias" factor noted in Lusk. As in Lusk, the jury override should be affirmed.

(4) Cold, calculated and premeditated.

Mr. Christian conceded this point from the witness stand.

Mr. Christian offered a curious, if not dangerous, theory of mitigation. Once Dr. Aviles and Dr. Krop eliminated any insanity defense, Christian had to develop a novel theory of "social pressure leading to diminished judgment".

Dr. Krop, a noted anti-death activist, could not find any psychological basis for actual reduced mental capacity so the psychologist "waffled into" a "reduced" or "substantially impaired" judgment theory apparently geared to Christian's problems with peer pressure. Such illusory theories are no strangers to Dr. Krop. The uncertain "diagnosis" at bar is analogous to Krop's similar, speculative diagnosis in James v. State, 489 So.2d 737 (Fla. 1986), which this Court rejected.

The Appellant's "peer pressure" theory is as dangerous as it is novel. The idea that murder can be mitigated or excused because a criminal needs to preserve his "social standing" in prison can only, if adopted, lead to mayhem in the prisons.

Naturally, the value of this mitigating evidence was a factor to be determined by Judge Fagan, not this Court. **Toole**

v. State, 479 So.2d 731 (Fla. 1985); Daugherty v. State, 419 So.2d 1067 (Fla. 1982), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1228 (1983); see also Tibbs v. State, 397 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1981). This Court has also held that Tedder will not preclude an override when the jury's life recommendation is not supported by the evidence. Craig v. State, 510 So.2d 857 (Fla. 1987); Francis v. State, 473 So.2d 672 (1985); Mills v State, 476 So.2d 172 (Fla. 1985); and Stevens v. State, 419 So.2d 1058 (Fla. 1982).

Christian's theory that we must allow prisoners leeway to kill each other in order to preserve social standing in prison is illogical and clearly insufficient to support a Tedder override. First, Christian's system poses a threat to the lives of everyone in the prison system. Second, unless Christian is kept in solitary confinement for life, any sentence less than death would equal no sentence at all. Third, a life sentence would place the imprimatur of this Court upon "revenge killings" in or out of prison.

The evidence supporting the Court's sentence has been set forth. Christian has offered no mitigating evidence of any consequence. He was never in danger once Moore was "locked up", he never "blacked out" and he planned the murder in advance by his own admission. There was no basis in fact for any life recommendation.

ARGUMENT

III.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE MURDER WAS COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED.

Playing upon the word "pretense", Christian wants this
Court to adopt the position that any pretextual excuse for a
murder automatically qualifies as a "pretense" and thus defeats
any finding of "cold, calculated or premeditated" murder. This
is too radical an idea for our acceptance.

At page 31 of his brief, Christian alleges that the court "overlooked" certain factors. Based upon Christian's own testimony if nothing else, we disagree.

- (1) Mr. Christian testified that he fully intended to hurt Moore with his knife and that he did not "black out" until after he stalked Moore. (R 1210, 1215, 1220).
- (2) After returning to population, Christian stopped communicating with the authorities and threatened to kill Moore. (R 1166). Christian only decided to talk to the authorities in the first place (after denying he knew who hit him at first) because he was afraid Moore would go to Mr. Ball "first". (R 1019). He (Christian) never simply agreed to let the prison handle the case.
- (3) Christian says he "blacked out", but Krop, his own expert, said Christian merely repressed his memory. (R 1538). Also, witnesses all agreed his attack was not frenzied but rather was methodical and systematic. (R 841, 940).

(4) Conflicts between the guards' testimony and the inmates' testimony, on appeal, are resolved in favor of the judgment, not defense speculation.

Christian simply cannot overcome his own admission that he planned and intended to stab Mr. Moore. The attack was deliberate, cold, calculated and premeditated. Dr. Krop said Christian was sane and appreciated the criminality of his conduct. In other words, the finding of "cold, calculated and premeditated" was entirely correct.

CONCLUSION

The judgment and sentence should be affirmed.